

INSTITUTE FOR YOUTH, EDUCATION, AND FAMILIES

> Opioid Use Disorder: City Actions and Opportunities to Address the Epidemic

> > **NLC MAYORS' INSTITUTE**

Part of the Culture of Health NLC Mayors' Institute Series



INSTITUTE FOR YOUTH, EDUCATION, AND FAMILIES

#### **About the National League of Cities**

The National League of Cities (NLC) is the nation's leading advocacy organization devoted to strengthening and promoting cities as centers of opportunity, leadership and governance. Through its membership and partnerships with state municipal leagues, NLC serves as a resource and advocate for more than 19,000 cities and towns and more than 218 million Americans.

The NLC Institute for Youth, Education, and Families helps municipal leaders act on behalf of the children, youth and families in their communities. NLC launched the YEF Institute in January 2000 in recognition of the unique and influential roles that mayors, city councilmembers and other local leaders play in strengthening families and improving outcomes for youth and children.

#### **About the Authors**

This paper was authored by the GWU Milken School of Public Health, under the leadership of Katie B. Horton, RN, MPH, JD, and with staff including Naomi Seiler, JD, Greg Dwyer, MPH and Anya Vanecek, MPH. NLC staff contributing to this summary include Sue Pechilio Polis, Jim Brooks, Leah Ettman, Kitty Hsu Dana, JaKaiya Frisby, Clifford M. Johnson, and Todd Wilson.

#### Acknowledgements

This project is supported by funding from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation with special thanks to Jamie Bussel, Monica Vinluan, Giridhar Mallya and Mona Shah.

Photo credits: All photos Getty Images 2018.

### Opioid Use Disorder: City Actions and Opportunities to Address the Epidemic

### **Table of Contents**

- 1 Introduction
- **3** Align Across Sectors and Systems
- 5 Promote Evidence-Based and Evidence-Informed Prevention Programs
- 7 Advocate for Expanded Prevention, Treatment, and Recovery Services
  - 10 Work with State Officials to Access Medicaid Funding
- 12 Collaborate with Industry and Nonprofit Partners
- **13** Reassess Approaches to Policing and Criminal Justice
- 14 Considerations for Moving Forward
- 14 New Federal Funding Opportunities
- 15 Opioids Through the Lifecycle
- 17 Tools for Advocates
- 18 Appendix: References

# Introduction

he opioid epidemic in the United States touches every community and every stage of life. The impact of Opioid Use Disorder (OUD)\* on premature death in the United States has been widely reported,<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup> and the crisis has become a political priority as well as a public health imperative.<sup>6,7,8</sup> An effective response by municipal leaders will require a comprehensive, multi-sector approach. Fortunately, mayors and other city officials are already taking action, often working closely with community partners, counties and state Medicaid programs.

The **Prescription for Action** report from the National League of Cities and the National Association of Counties reminds us that local leaders can have a profound impact on the way the opioid epidemic is addressed and managed in their community.<sup>9</sup> This brief provides examples of city actions to address the opioid epidemic and highlights opportunities — through the use of Medicaid, federal grants, and other resources — to expand those efforts.

### HIGHLIGHT Burlington, Vermont

As part of the Chittenden County Opioid Alliance,<sup>10</sup> the City of Burlington piloted a "hub-andspoke" model that has since been adopted by the entire state of Vermont to organize their provider and treatment-centered response to the opioid epidemic. Following implementation, Vermont now has the highest capacity for treating Opioid Use Disorder (OUD) in the U.S. The model divides Vermont into five regions, organized around an opioid treatment provider with a license to dispense buprenorphine and sufficient staff to assess and treat opioid patients' medical and psychiatric needs. From this "hub" jut "spokes" of nurse-counselor teams focused on family services, corrections, residential services, in-patient services, pain management clinics, medical homes, substance abuse outpatient treatment and/or mental health services.<sup>11</sup>

As a result of this model, Vermont increased the number of opioid patients served more than threefold during its first three years and reduced the length of its treatment waiting lists even as demand increased.<sup>12</sup> A key component of the hub-and-spoke model's success is the incorporation of the Burlington Police Department, which is transitioning from punishing addiction as a crime to treating it as a disease. The Chittenden County Opioid Alliance tracks its progress using a scorecard, which it provides to the public as an online tool that shares information about the state's progress.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>\*</sup> Opioid use disorder is defined as mild, moderate, or severe recurrent use of opioids that causes clinically and functionally significant impairment, such as health problems and failure to meet major responsibilities at work, school, or home. Symptoms include: strong desire for opioids, inability to control or reduce use, use of larger amounts over time, development of tolerance, and others. See: Substance Use Disorders. SAMHSA. At: https://www.samhsa.gov/disorders/substance-use

Collaborative efforts are often stronger and more far-reaching than the work that any single entity could accomplish.

# Align Across Sectors and Systems

unicipal leaders recognize that they cannot end this epidemic alone and that a diverse range of community partners will bring unique perspectives and assets to the development of local prevention, treatment, and recovery solutions. Partnerships between city, county and state agencies as well as the engagement of a broad range of other local stakeholders can lead to innovative strategies and create new opportunities to help residents at risk of or struggling with addiction. Partnerships can also ensure all city residents are receiving equitable access to treatment and support.

Collaborative efforts are often stronger and more far-reaching than the work that any single entity could accomplish. For instance, the city parks and recreation department may collaborate with a local housing agency to help people transition into more stable and supportive housing. Law enforcement and emergency medical services can cooperate to help overdose victims receive and maintain the mental health and recovery assistance they need. City leaders can enlist the help of local colleges or universities to collect, analyze and apply data to track progress and improve the city's response to this crisis. By investing in relationships and building coalitions among these and other stakeholders, mayors and other city officials can create ecosystems that support effective prevention, treatment and recovery efforts.

Known as "heroin ground zero," local leaders in Northern Kentucky have developed a collective response to address the unprecedented impact of the heroin epidemic on local communities. Partners include the Heroin Impact Response Leadership Team, the Northern Kentucky Drug Strike Force, local law enforcement, county prosecutors and the justice system. Northern Kentucky's detailed plan to reduce the impact of heroin on its communities includes reducing the supply of heroin and other drugs within communities through local law enforcement efforts and residents' surveillance; establishing a regional infrastructure for governance and accountability to research and communicate findings about the sociological, medical and economic impact of the epidemic on Northern Kentucky communities to professionals, advocates and the public; advocating for systems change;



and reducing the demand for drugs through improved prevention efforts that seek to lower youth prescription drug use and promote mental, social and environmental health, especially in schools.<sup>14</sup>

**Tempe, Arizona** is part of a regional collaborative made up of city and county leaders, that educates young adults in the region about topics related to the opioid crisis. Under the jurisdiction of the Regional

Opioid Action Planning Committee, the city has mobilized action by the multisectoral Tempe Coalition, the Tempe Fire Medical Rescue, and the Tempe Union High School District to provide education and outreach to Tempe's young people about opioid addiction and recovery resources. In collaboration with state and regional health departments, the city is also collecting data for use in these educational efforts, regional planning, and other strategies.<sup>15</sup>

### Promote Evidence-Based and Evidence-Informed Prevention Programs

ddiction early in life can lead to a myriad of health problems and can create barriers to success later in life. For this reason, it is important that city leaders step forward as champions for prevention programs that have evidence of success. Because most young people are enrolled in schools, school nurses and social workers are in an optimal position to help them prevent opioid misuse. Strong city partnerships with school officials are essential to maximize these efforts.

Public schools in numerous states have adopted Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT) and other substance use and risk factor screening tools to help fight addiction early-on. In 2016, the state of Massachusetts began requiring public schools to implement SBIRT.<sup>16</sup> Studies have shown that even a single screening with SBIRT can motivate students to seek help,<sup>17</sup> lower rates of drug misuse, and reduce the risk that traumatic events will trigger longterm struggles with addiction,<sup>18,19,20</sup> though a vast majority of studies have not focused specifically on opioid misuse. Economic impact research suggests that investing in SBIRT results in returns on investment of up to \$5.60 per dollar spent.<sup>21</sup>

Using tools like SBIRT should not be confined to public school students, as atrisk community members of all ages should be identified early and linked to care, as needed. Experts suggest these tools are being underutilized, and use of such risk factor screening tools should be expanded.<sup>22</sup> To this end, the State of **Maryland** has been expanding its use of SBIRT in a multitude of diverse sites through its Opioid Operational Command Center, which brings together various state departments to facilitate interagency data-sharing and collaboration on methods to combat the opioid epidemic.<sup>23</sup> The Maryland Department of Health has implemented SBIRT programs for adults in approximately 22 primary care locations, in 10 cities and counties, including **Baltimore** City and County. In Baltimore, three hospitals participate in the SBIRT project, as the Baltimore City Health Department is leading a city-wide effort to expand the use of SBIRT to all healthcare institutions in the city.<sup>24</sup>

Grants to implement initiatives like SBIRT are available through the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA).<sup>25</sup> Cities can monitor SAMHSA's grant announcement webpage to find grants that can help fund substance use



disorder prevention and treatment options in their jurisdictions.<sup>26</sup>

Communities that Care (CTC) is another prevention-oriented intervention that cities are utilizing to combat the opioid epidemic. CTC is designed to promote healthy youth development, reduce problem behavior and increase positive youth outcomes (such as higher percentages of students graduating from high school on time, fewer teen pregnancies and better mental health in their 20s)<sup>27</sup> by creating tailored, evidencebased interventions for families, children, and adolescents.<sup>28</sup> Results from the Community Youth Development Study (CYDS) suggest intensive CTC interventions slow the growth of "lifetime problem behaviors" (e.g., substance use, delinquency, teen pregnancy, dropping out of school and violence)<sup>29</sup> in cohorts of children in communities that received these interventions.<sup>30</sup> In 2017, **Fountain, Colorado** became the first city in the state to build on the successes of CYDS by developing its own CTC program aimed at creating "a stronger sense of family, community and society as a means to prevent kids and teens from using drugs or alcohol."<sup>31</sup>

### Advocate for Expanded Prevention, Treatment and Recovery Services

ffective programming to combat the opioid epidemic must be comprehensive and include services that prevent, treat, and help individuals recover from opioid use disorder. Prevention, treatment, and recovery services work together to ensure individuals have access to the services they need based on their current opioid use.

Cities can work to ensure that local providers are receiving appropriate training in both opioid prescribing and comprehensive, effective pain management, as one component of preventing opioid addiction. A number of states require additional training for certain opioid prescribers,<sup>32</sup> and the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention's (CDC) Guidelines for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain are included in the curricula of more than 60 medical schools.<sup>33,34</sup> According to the American Medical Association (AMA), more than 118,000 physicians completed training in opioid prescribing and opioid addiction-related issues in 2015 and 2016. Additionally, the American Medical Boards added an addiction medicine subspecialty in March 2016.35

Mayors and other municipal officials can also highlight the need for expanded treatment options in their communities while working with leaders in the health sector to advocate for changes in the way opioid use and misuse is addressed. Treatment is available in a number of different settings including self-help groups, outpatient rehabilitation, inpatient rehabilitation, hospitals, and private doctor's offices.<sup>36</sup> Nevertheless, only 12 percent of those with a substance use disorder actually receive treatment. In many areas, drug treatment specialists and facilities are in short supply. Additional education and training of healthcare providers about opioids and addiction are urgently needed.

Advocacy is particularly needed with regard to the expanded use of medication assisted therapy (MAT) (i.e. buprenorphine, naltrexone, or methadone).<sup>37</sup> Nearly all state Medicaid programs report covering at least one form of the anti-addiction medicines used in MAT, but local provision of MAT may be limited. SAMHSA provides grant opportunities to "expand/enhance access to MAT services for persons with an opioid use disorder seeking or receiving MAT." <sup>38</sup> These grants are earmarked for states with high rates of opioid use disorder treatment admissions, particularly states in which there has been a significant increase in admissions.<sup>39</sup> City leaders with high rates of opioid use in their jurisdictions may consider working with state officials to emphasize the importance of expanding MAT access and facilitating the development of grant proposals to apply for funding.

Medicaid 1115 waivers are another, largely untapped, route for expanding access to MAT. The Centers for Medicaid and Medicare Services (CMS) provides states with additional flexibility to help improve access to substance use disorder treatment

### "

In many areas, drug treatment specialists and facilities are in short supply. Additional education and training of healthcare providers about opioids and addiction are urgently needed.

through Medicaid 1115 waivers.<sup>40</sup> These waivers allow states to provide more comprehensive care for individuals with a substance use disorder by waiving certain provisions of Medicaid law to test alternative models of care delivery. **New Jersey**'s recently approved 1115 waiver offers increased access to MAT, along with peer support and targeted case management in residential treatment facilities<sup>41</sup> through its Opioid Use Disorder/Substance Use Disorder program.<sup>42</sup>

Finally, city leaders can advocate for expanding access to recovery services. Recovery — the "process of change through which individuals improve their health and wellness, live self-directed lives, and strive to reach their full potential" — is supported by good health, stable housing, meaningful daily activities, and a sense of community.<sup>43</sup> Increasing access to mental health and social support services can help those in recovery from opioid use disorder stay in recovery.<sup>44</sup> Cities can also work to increase access to affordable housing which can further help those in recovery stay in recovery.

#### A multi-sector effort in **Everett**,

Washington, between city officials, the local police department, housing services, social workers, and mental health professionals aims to combine housing and mental health supports to assist in recovery. The opioid epidemic, lack of affordable housing, and lack of jobs have led to a 65 percent increase in individuals living outdoors over the past two years.<sup>45</sup> In response, social workers have been riding along with police officers to find and connect homeless individuals, many of whom suffer from opioid use disorder, to recovery and housing services. Additionally, Everett is building a supportive housing project for the chronically homeless where they will have 24-hour access to mental health and recovery supports.



# Work with State Officials to Access Medicaid Funding

edicaid beneficiaries are twice as likely as those with private insurance to be prescribed opioids and are six times more likely to die from an opioid overdose.<sup>46</sup> Medicaid plays an important role in providing critical care to these individuals, covering 3 in 10 people with opioid addiction in 2015.<sup>47</sup>

In addition to the SUD-related services covered in the traditional Medicaid program, the Affordable Care Act (ACA) requires state Medicaid programs to cover substance use disorder treatment services for their Medicaid expansion populations.<sup>48</sup> For those states that have expanded Medicaid, services like detoxification, rehabilitation, recovery, medication assisted treatment, and mental and behavioral health services are available,<sup>49</sup> although there is variability among state Medicaid programs in what specific services are covered under each of these categories.<sup>50</sup>

Mayors can work with their State Medicaid offices to ensure that the full range of treatment and recovery services is accessible in their city. For example, states could use a Section 1115 waiver to cover the costs of residential opioid use disorder treatment for Medicaid beneficiaries. Currently, Medicaid does not cover residential treatment in certain institutions for beneficiaries between the ages of 21 and 64.<sup>51</sup> Known as the "**Institution for Mental Diseases (IMD) exclusion**," an IMD is "a hospital, nursing facility, or other institution of more than 16 beds that is primarily engaged in providing diagnosis, treatment or care of persons with mental diseases, including medical attention, nursing care and related services."<sup>52</sup>

In addition to expanding the use of an IMD through a waiver, the ACA's Medicaid Emergency Psychiatric Demonstration is testing whether eliminating this exclusion is beneficial from a cost and care perspective.<sup>53</sup> Eleven states and the District of Columbia submitted proposals which CMS approved outlining how they would use IMDs to treat state residents, track patients, monitor stabilization, and develop recovery plans, post-IMD stay.<sup>54</sup> These states may use Medicaid funding, including up to \$75 million in federal matching funds, to pay for admissions to these facilities.<sup>55</sup>

# 65%

increase in individuals living outdoors over the past two years due to the opioid epidemic, lack of affordable housing, and a lack of jobs Cities have an important role to play in encouraging policies that would address the IMD exclusion. For example, cities could encourage or incentivize Medicaid Managed Care Organizations (MCOs) to cover treatment in IMDs, a flexibility available in some states.<sup>56</sup> Cities could work closely with state Medicaid staff to develop waivers to address the IMD exclusion. Medicaid 1115 waivers, like New Jersey's (described above), may be used to address the current IMD exclusion and provide additional access to substance use disorder treatment.

Mayors should be alert to efforts underway in their state to draft and submit a waiver under this section of the Medicaid statute. The ACA has made the waiver process significantly more transparent, requiring a 30-day comment period at the state level before a waiver is submitted to CMS.<sup>57</sup> City agencies can also turn to existing relationships with state Medicaid agencies to remain aware of any developments in this area. Where waiver efforts are not yet underway, mayors could advocate for their governor and state Medicaid agency to pursue waivers that would allow for more innovative efforts around SUD prevention and treatment.

**Virginia** submitted and was approved for a waiver demonstration project that

implements the Addiction and Recovery Treatment Services (ARTS) Delivery System to provide treatment for those with substance use disorder.<sup>58</sup> Specifically, the demonstration project expands Virginia Medicaid's substance use disorder benefits package to include the full continuum of care, integrates these services into comprehensive managed care, and introduces new requirements to improve the quality of addiction care. Though the waiver is not specifically focused on opioid addiction, outcomes and rates of opioid use disorder improved significantly in the first three months of the demonstration.<sup>59</sup>

Medicaid health homes also provide opportunities for cities to address opioid use. Medicaid health homes offer care management and coordination for Medicaid beneficiaries with a number of different chronic conditions, including substance use disorders.<sup>60</sup> Several states including Maryland and Rhode Island have specifically targeted Medicaid beneficiaries who suffer from opioid use disorder for treatment in Medicaid health homes.<sup>61</sup> While provider structure, type of enrollment and approach to payment differ based on the needs of beneficiaries and local providers. the health homes generally provide Opioid Treatment Programs and case management for eligible state residents.<sup>62</sup>

## Collaborate with Industry and Nonprofit Partners

s part of their efforts to advance more comprehensive approaches to the opioid epidemic, city leaders can reach out to industry and nonprofit partners to develop and implement creative strategies that reduce opioid-related deaths and the trauma resulting from opioid addiction.

Health departments in **New York City** and **New York State** are collaborating with Adapt Pharma\*, the producers of NARCAN nasal spray, a drug which can reverse opioid overdoses, to expedite the distribution of NARCAN to first responders. Previously, the city and state needed to work with a number of different distributors, each with different prices and delivery times, to get the medication. The one-year agreement between the city, state, and Adapt Pharma creates a centralized system through which health departments can order the drug and receive it in as little as one day.<sup>63</sup> Getting NARCAN and other formulations of naloxone into the hands of first responders is a key step in driving down the rate of opioid overdose deaths. Between January and September 2017, New York City police officers saved at least 140 lives using NARCAN.<sup>64</sup>

In Lowell, Massachusetts, the local district attorney's office, the Lowell police department and the Mental Health Association of Greater Lowell (MHA) have entered into a publicprivate partnership called Project CARE (Child Assessment and Response Evaluation). This program provides rapid response intervention for children with family members who have suffered an opioid overdose. It enables first responders entering homes where an opioid overdose has occurred to alert MHA when a child is present, so the organization can coordinate services for the child.<sup>65</sup> While the program is too new for a robust evaluation of effectiveness, those involved hope it will enable children exposed to such trauma to overcome it and go on to lead healthy lives.66

### HIGHLIGHT The Role of Data in Boston, Massachusetts

**In 2015, the office of Boston Mayor Martin Walsh** and the Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts Foundation formed a partnership to conduct an analysis of the substance use and addiction problem in the city. Researchers analyzed data from federal, state and local data sources, interviewed state and local officials and conducted community-based focus groups to determine clear recommendations for the City of Boston.

The main goals of the analysis were to 1) identify the demand for and capacity of addiction and recovery services in Boston; and 2) develop recommendations to enhance and improve the current system of care, with specific suggestions on the creation and future activities of the Mayor's Office of Recovery Services. Based on their findings, the workgroup recommended that the City of Boston prioritize recovery, strengthen citywide partner-ships and programs to provide services to individuals and families impacted by addiction and lend its voice to reduce stigma and encourage individuals to seek treatment. Using these findings as a roadmap for action, Mayor Walsh created the Mayor's Office of Recovery Services. This represents the first municipal recovery office in the United States that uses a highly localized, collaborative approach to address substance abuse and addiction in the area. It works with a variety of federal entities, other local government departments in Boston, local service providers, and other stakeholders to develop citywide recovery strategies.

\*Adapt Pharma is a partner with the NLC in the U.S. Communities Government Purchasing Alliance.

## Reassess Approaches to Policing and Criminal Justice

n the midst of the growing opioid epidemic, city leaders, public health professionals, and local law enforcement officials are increasingly seeking new ways to work together and are exploring alternatives to arrest and/or incarceration for lower-level criminal behaviors rooted in addiction.

Indianapolis, Indiana: In 2017, Indianapolis launched its Mobile Crisis Assistance Team pilot project in the Indianapolis Metropolitan Police Department's East District, which receives a high rate of emergency medical calls related to both medical and mental health issues. The team consists of an emergency medical provider, a police officer, and a licensed mental health professional who respond to crisis calls as a unit in an effort to reduce the number of people who are arrested or brought to an emergency department unnecessarily. This initiative is part of the city's efforts to reform the criminal justice system using national best practices.

**Seattle and King County, Washington** unite law enforcement, public health officials, city and county leadership, community stakeholders and private-sector support in LEAD: the Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion program. Through LEAD, lowlevel drug offenders are diverted from the criminal justice system, and instead connected to trained clinicians who specialize in medication-assisted treatments and services such as mental health support, housing, and job training.<sup>67</sup> An independent evaluation by University of Washington researchers found that this program significantly reduced both recidivism and criminal justice spending.<sup>68</sup>

Buffalo, New York: In May 2017, Buffalo launched an opioid intervention court. This program is an alternative version of a traditional drug court and reduces the amount of time it takes for individuals to get into a treatment facility or detox program. Instead of immediately facing criminal charges or being sent to jail after a drug-related arrest, this intervention allows non-violent individuals with substance use disorder the opportunity to get treatment and lower their sentencing or have it dismissed. Participants are required to appear in court within a day of their arrest and then are sent to residential rehab clinics. Following a month of inpatient treatment, participants must go to court to speak with the judge each day for 30 consecutive days; are drug tested on a regular basis; and must adhere to a number of other requirements, including participation in outpatient care. The work is being financed by a three-year \$300,000 grant from the U.S. Department of Justice, with the goal of treating 200 people in the first year and creating a model that other cities can replicate.

# Considerations for Moving Forward

n moving to address the opioid epidemic, mayors and other city leaders can play many key roles.

**Influence Change:** Local elected officials are in a unique position to influence cultural change within their communities by mobilizing key stakeholders, reducing stigma and changing local policies.

#### Foster Regional & State Alignment:

Through state and regional cooperation, municipal officials can recruit new allies with a diverse array of perspectives and assets, in the process enabling greater participation and buy-in from the community at large. Advocate: Particularly as cities achieve successes and collect valuable data about what works, city leaders will find increased opportunities to educate state and federal partners and advocate for greater funding, expanded services and more systematic approaches to combatting the epidemic at all levels.

**Build Resilience:** Finally, by developing local leaders with a deep familiarity of the crisis and special understanding of how to combat it, cities can become more resilient not only in the face of the opioid epidemic, but against whichever social, environmental, and systemic public health issues may arise.

### **HIGHLIGHT** New Federal Funding Opportunities

**The 21st Century Cures Act allocated \$1 billion in funding** over two years to combat the opioid crisis; \$500 million was appropriated in 2017. The Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act (CARA) authorized \$181 million per year; CARA 2.0, introduced in February 2018, would authorize an additional \$1 billion for evidence-based prevention, enforcement, treatment, and recovery programs, pending passage and appropriations from Congress. In addition, the most recent budget agreement approved by Congress in February 2018 includes \$6 billion in additional funding for the opioid crisis. 69 Cities should closely monitor funding opportunities and identify any programs or awards that would bolster efforts at the local level.

# **Opioids Through the Lifecycle**



pioids impact every part of the lifecycle, and use of opioids in one stage often greatly influences an individual's life in other life stages. The opioid crisis is often discussed in terms of overdoses and premature death, but its consequences are diverse and far-reaching. Opioid misuse has taken an insidious toll on families, the foster care, legal, and educational systems, elderly care, and the workforce. Therefore, the crisis should be addressed at every stage of the lifecycle, as well as within the institutions that are affected. The following section elucidates the impact of opioids from birth through old age, highlighting key impacts beyond the individual that may provide critical areas of intervention.

#### Birth

Rates of Neonatal Abstinence Syndrome (NAS), which refers to withdrawal symptoms experienced by newborns exposed to opioids in utero,<sup>70</sup> have risen in parallel with the opioid epidemic. As the epidemic escalated between 1999 and 2013, rates of NAS increased 300 percent.<sup>71</sup> While an uncomplicated birth costs

\$3,500 per infant on average, the average hospital charge for infants with NAS can be as high as \$93,400.72 At times, hospitals may be required to absorb these costs because the family is unable to pay, adding additional challenges for local hospitals. Further complicating matters, infants whose parents suffer from opioid use disorder are often removed from their mother's custody - despite evidence that such separation can lead to slower recovery for the infant - and placed into the increasingly burdened foster care system.<sup>73,74,75</sup> Experts and professional societies in both pediatrics and obstetrics note the importance of addressing NAS through resources, treatment, and nonpunitive support for pregnant women.<sup>76,77</sup>

#### Children

Between 2012 and 2015, the number of children in the United States in the foster care system increased eight percent.<sup>78,79,80</sup> Parental substance use disorder is the second leading cause of children entering the foster care system, accounting for approximately one-third of all removals since the Administration for Children and Families began reporting these data in 2015.<sup>81</sup> Further, removals for parental substance use have grown at a pace more rapidly than other removal causes like housing instability.<sup>82</sup> Eventually, children themselves may start to abuse opioids, often at increased risk of bodily harm or death.

### Adolescents

The rate of overdose drug deaths among those ages 15 to 19 increased by more than 150 percent between 1999 and 2007, from 1.6 deaths per 100,000 to 4.2 per 100,000.83 This follows the trajectory of opioid prescribing rates for young adults during this time, which nearly doubled between 1994 and 2007.84 Although overdose deaths in this age group temporarily declined between 2007 and 2014. the most recent data from 2015 suggests drug overdose deaths are back on the rise, increasing to 3.7 per 100,000.85 Opioids were the driving force behind both periods of increasing drug overdose death rates in this age group.<sup>86</sup> Alarmingly, adolescents have reported declines in usage of both heroin and prescription opioids, particularly since 2009.87 Yet they still suffer from increasing opioid overdose death rates suggesting the use of opioids has become more dangerous thanks to powerful new opioids like fentanyl.88

### **Non-Elderly Adults**

Adolescents who reach adulthood may join the nearly 5 percent (11.5 million) of U.S. adults\* who have misused prescription opioids,<sup>89</sup> including approximately 1 percent (1.9 million) with an opioid use disorder.<sup>90</sup> Opioids are heavily used by this cohort, most often with a prescription. However, with an estimated 91.8 million adults who have used prescription opioids within a year, the opportunity for nonmedical use is high; this cohort also reports dramatically increasing usage of nonprescription opioids, like heroin.<sup>91</sup> Between 2002 and 2013, there was a 138 percent increase in usage of heroin among those who reported nonmedical use of prescription opioids.<sup>92,93</sup>

Though direct correlations may be hard to draw, there is a notable association between opioid overdose and deaths and the employment rate. In a recent paper for the National Bureau of Economic Research, the authors found that every one percent increase in the national unemployment rate was correlated with a seven percent increase in opioid overdoses and a 3.6% increase in opioid-related deaths among U.S. adults.<sup>94</sup>

#### Seniors

While older adults over age 50 are the least likely to misuse opioids, use among this population increased nearly twofold between 2002 and 2014, from 1.1 percent to 2 percent.<sup>95</sup> Similarly, while adults ages 25 to 64 make up a majority of opioid overdose deaths, it is the older portion of this population—those ages 55 to 64—who have seen the largest increases in overdose deaths.<sup>96</sup>

### ACTION Interventions throughout the Lifespan

When developing policies and implementing programs to address opioid addiction, cities should consider putting in place programs and initiatives that respond to the opioid crisis across the lifespan. Some models, such as SBIRT, have wide-ranging applications from schools to emergency departments; some policy changes stand to benefit virtually the entire population. Other interventions, such as school-based education programs, are tailored to address the needs of individuals in specific stages of their life. Cities, in collaboration with state and other local officials, should assess their specific needs and ensure that their comprehensive plans sufficiently address the needs of all stages of life—from pregnancy through childhood to mature adulthood.

### **Tools for Advocates**

NACo-NLC Opioid Report Portal www.opioidaction.org

National League of Cities www.nlc.org

National Association of Counties www.naco.org

National Governors Association www.nga.org

White House Office of National Drug Control Policy https://www.whitehouse.gov/ondcp

Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration http://www.samhsa.gov/

American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists www.acog.org

American Medical Association https://www.ama-assn.org/

National Association of County and City Health Officials http://www.naccho.org/

National District Attorneys Association http://www.ndaa.org/ International Association of Chiefs of Police http://www.theiacp.org/

National Association of County Behavioral Health and Developmental Disability Directors http://www.nacbhd.org/

National Association of State Alcohol and Drug Abuse Directors http://nasadad.org/

Community Anti-Drug Coalitions of America www.cadca.org

The Red Ribbon Campaign www.redribbon.org

Additional City Model — Brockton, MA

https://www.youtube.com/ watch?v=H3kctDJ3BaU

Association of State and Territorial Health Officials http://www.astho.org/

#### Walgreens Take Back Locations

https://walgreens.maps.arcgis.com/apps/ MapSeries/index.html?appid=53cf1b54a bf34c4bacdec863e5c56391

### **Appendix:** References

1 Katz, J. (2017, June 5). Drug Deaths in America are Rising Faster Than Ever. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/ interactive/2017/06/05/upshot/opioid-epidemic-drug-overdosedeaths-are-rising-faster-than-ever.html

2 Ingraham, C. (2017, Dec. 21). CDC Releases Grim New Opioid Overdose Figures: 'We're Talking About More Than an Exponential Increase.' The Washington Post. https://www.washingtonpost. com/news/wonk/wp/2017/12/21/cdc-releases-grim-new-opioidoverdoase-figures-were-talking-about-more-than-an-exponentialincrease/?utm\_term=.f271d87417bb

3 Bernstein, L. & Ingraham, C. (2017, Dec. 21). Fueled by Drug Crisis, U.S. Life Expectancy Declines for a Second Straight Year. https:// www.washingtonpost.com/national/health-science/fueled-bydrug-crisis-us-life-expectancy-declines-for-a-second-straightyear/2017/12/20/2e3f8dea-e596-11e7-ab50-621fe0588340\_story.html 4 Lopez, G. (2017, Sept. 5). Drug Overdose Deaths Skyrocketed in 2016 - and Traditional Opioid Painkillers Weren't the Cause. Vox. https://www.vox.com/policy-and-politics/2017/9/5/16255040/opioid-epidemic-overdose-death-2016

5 Torry, H. (2017, Dec. 19). Drug and Alcohol Deaths at U.S. Workplaces Soar. The Wall Street Journal https://www.wsj.com/articles/ drug-and-alcohol-deaths-at-u-s-workplaces-soar-1513712478 6 Trump, D. (2018, Jan. 30). Trump's First State of the Union Speech, Annotated. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes. com/interactive/2018/01/30/us/politics/state-of-the-union-2018transcript.html

7 Caminiti, S. (2018, Jan. 30). Trump Talks Tough in State of the Union to End Opioid Crisis, but High Schools Get Tougher. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2018/01/30/high-schools-stock-up-on-narcan-to-combat-teen-opioid-crisis-in-us.html

8 Lopez, G. (2018, Jan. 30). Why Democrats Are Wearing Purple Ribbons at the State of the Union. Vox. https://www.vox.com /2018/1/30/16953544/purple-ribbons-opioid-epidemic-democrats 9 National League of Cities and National Association of Counties. (2016). A Prescription for Action. http://opioidaction.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/NACo-NLC\_JointOpioidReport\_FINAL.pdf 10 Chittenden County Opioid Alliance. http://www.ecosproject. com/chittenden-county-opioid-alliance/

11 Hub and Spoke. Vermont Blueprint for Health. At: http:// blueprintforhealth.vermont.gov/sites/bfh/files/Hub%20and%20 Spoke%202-Pager.pdf

12 Brooklyn, J. R., & Sigmon, S. C. (2017). Vermont hub-and-spoke model of care for opioid use disorder: development, implementation, and impact. Journal of addiction medicine, 11(4), 286.

13 Opioids Scorecard. Vermont Department of Health. 2018. http://www.healthvermont.gov/scorecard-opioids

14 The Leadership Team of the Northern Kentucky Heroin Impact Report. (2013, Nov. 14). Northern Kentucky's Collective Response to the Heroin Epidemic: Our Plan for Recovery. Drug Free KY. http://drugfreenky.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/11/Northern-Kentuckys-Collective-Response-Final.pdf

15 Local Opioid Epidemic Plan. (2017, Sept. 18). City Council Committee of the Whole (COW). http://documents.tempe.gov/ sirepub/cache/1207/3kxefyh4yjehazzuntkniwuc/ 2322122602132018092627176.PDF

16 SBIRT in Schools. MASBIRT. http://www.masbirt.org/schools 17 Curtis, B. L., McLellan, A. T., & Gabellini, B. N. (2014). Translating SBIRT to public school settings: An initial test of feasibility. Journal of substance abuse treatment, 46(1), 15-21.

18 D'Amico, E. J., Miles, J. N., Stern, S. A., & Meredith, L. S. (2008). Brief motivational interviewing for teens at risk of substance use consequences: a randomized pilot study in a primary care clinic. Journal of substance abuse treatment, 35(1), 53-61.

19 Winters, K. C., & Leitten, W. (2007). Brief intervention for drug-abusing adolescents in a school setting. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 21(2), 249.

20 McCambridge, J., & Strang, J. (2004). The efficacy of single-session motivational interviewing in reducing drug consumption and perceptions of drug-related risk and harm among young people: results from a multi-site cluster randomized trial. Addiction, 99(1), 39-52.

21 SAMHSA-HRSA Center for Integrated Health Solutions. (2017). SBIRT: Screening, Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment: Opportunities for Implementation and Points for Consideration. Washington, DC. https://www.integration.samhsa.gov/SBIRT\_Issue Brief.pdf

22 Harris, B. R. (2016). Talking about screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment for adolescents: an upstream intervention to address the heroin and prescription opioid epidemic. Preventive medicine, 91, 397-399.

23 Maryland Opioid Operational Command Center. At: http:// marylandpublicschools.org/Documents/heroinprevention/OOC-CSummarySheet.pdf

24 BCHD White Paper: State of Health in Baltimore (Winter 2016). Baltimore City Health Department. 2016. At: https://health.baltimorecity.gov/state-health-baltimore-winter-2016#Addressing the Opioid Epidemic

25 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2017). Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment. SAMHSA.gov. https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/grant-announcements/ti-18-007.

26 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2018). Fiscal Year 2018 Grant Announcements and Awards. SAMHSA.gov. https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/grant-announcements-2018.

27 University of Washington (n.d.). How it Works. Communities that Care Plus. https://www.communitiesthatcare.net/how-ctc-works/ 28 Koh, H. K. (2017). Community-Based Prevention and Strategies for the Opioid Crisis. Jama, 318(11), 993-994.

29 Hawkins, J. D., & Catalano, R. F. (2002). Investing in Your Community's Youth: An Introduction to Communities that Care. Channing Bete Company.

30 Rhew, I. C., Hawkins, J. D., Murray, D. M., Fagan, A. A., Oesterle, S., Abbott, R. D., & Catalano, R. F. (2016). Evaluation of community-level effects of Communities That Care on adolescent drug use and delinquency using a repeated cross-sectional design. Prevention science, 17(2), 177-187.

31 Rodgers, J. (2017, Feb. 26). Community Approach to Target Teen Substance Abuse in Fountain. The Gazette. http://gazette. com/community-approach-to-target-teen-substance-abuse-infountain/article/1597713

32 Physician CME Requirements. (2014). myCME, 2014.

http://media.mycme.com/documents/94/physician\_cme\_requirements\_23287.pdf

33 U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (n.d.). CDC Guideline for Prescribing Opioids for Chronic Pain. Atlanta, GA. https://www. cdc.gov/drugoverdose/pdf/ guidelines\_at-a-glance-a.pdf

34 Krisberg K. (2016, Sept. 29). Medical Schools Confront Opioid Crisis with Greater Focus on Pain, Addiction Education. AAMC-News. https://news.aamc. org/medical-education/article/ medical-schools-confront-opioid-crisis/

35 Segal, L.M., De Biasi, A., Mueller, J.L., May, K., & Warren, M. (2017). Pain in the Nation: The Drug, Alcohol and Suicide Crises and the Need for a National Resilience Strategy. Trust for America's Health. http://healthyamericans.org/assets/files/ TFAH-2017-PainNationRpt-FINAL.pdf.

### **Appendix: References**

36 The Pew Charitable Trusts and The MacArthur Foundation. (2015). Substance Use Disorders and the Role of the States. http://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2015/03/ substanceusedisordersandtheroleofthestates.pdf 37 States Reporting Medicaid Coverage of Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT) Drugs [FY 2017]. Kaiser Family Foundation. https://www.kff.org/medicaid/state-indicator/ states-reporting-medicaid-coverage-of-medication-assisted-treatment-mat-drugs/?currentTimeframe=0&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D 38 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2017). Targeted Capacity Expansion: Medication Assisted Treatment - Prescription Drug and Opioid Addiction. SAMHSA.gov. https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/grant-announcements/ti-17-017 39 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2017). Targeted Capacity Expansion: Medication Assisted Treatment - Prescription Drug and Opioid Addiction. SAMHSA.gov. https://www.samhsa.gov/grants/grant-announcements/ti-17-017 40 Neale. B. (2017, Nov. 1). Letter to State Medicaid Directors Re: Strategies to Address the Opioid Epidemic. CMS. https://www. medicaid.gov/federal-policy-guidance/downloads/smd17003.pdf 41 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. (2017, Nov. 1). CMS announces new Medicaid policy to combat the opioid crisis by increasing access to treatment options. https://www.cms.gov/ Newsroom/MediaReleaseDatabase/Press-releases/2017-Press-re-

leases-items/2017-11-01.html
42 Neal, B. (2017, Oct. 31). Letter to New Jersey Director of Health and Human Services Division of Meidcal Assistance and Health Services Meghan Davey. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. https://www.medicaid.gov/medicaid-chip-program-information/by-topics/waivers/1115/downloads/nj/nj-1115-request-ca.pdf
43 Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2017). Recovery and Recovery Support. SAMHSA.gov. https:// www.samhsa.gov/recovery

**44** Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2016). Common Comorbidities. SAMHSA.gov. https:// www.samhsa.gov/medication-assisted-treatment/treatment/ common-comorbidities

**45** The Associated Press (2017, Dec. 13). One city's promising assault on homelessness and addiction. CBS News. https://www.cbsnews.com/news/everett-washington-assault-on-homelessness-and-addiction/

**46** National League of Cities and National Association of Counties. (2016). A Prescription for Action. http://opioidaction.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/NACo-NLC\_JointOpioidReport\_FINAL.pdf **47** Medicaid and the Opioid Epidemic: Enrollment, Spending, and the Implications of Proposed Policy Changes, Katherine Young and Julia Zur, Jul 14, 2017.

48 Abraham, A. J., Andrews, C. M., Grogan, C. M., D'Aunno, T., Humphreys, K. N., Pollack, H. A., & Friedmann, P. D. (2017). The Affordable Care Act transformation of substance use disorder treatment. **49** Center on Budget and Policy Priorities (2018). Medicaid Works for People with Substance Use Disorders.

https://www.cbpp.org/research/health/medicaid-works-forpeople-with-substance-use-disorders

50 Grogan, C. M., Andrews, C., Abraham, A., Humphreys, K., Pollack, H. A., Smith, B. T., & Friedmann, P. D. (2016). Survey highlights differences in Medicaid coverage for substance use treatment and opioid use disorder medications. Health Affairs, 35(12), 2289-2296.
51 Legal Action Center (2014). The Medicaid IMD Exclusion: An Overview and Opportunities for Reform. LAC.org. https://lac.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/IMD\_exclusion\_fact\_sheet.pdf
52 42 CFR § 435.1010

53 Centers for Medicaid and Medicaid Services. (2017). Medicaid Emergency Psychiatric Demonstration. CMS.gov. https://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/Medicaid-Emergency-Psychiatric-Demo 54 Centers for Medicaid and Medicaid Services. (2017). Medicaid Emergency Psychiatric Demonstration Frequently Asked Questions. CMS.gov. https://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/Medicaid-Emergency-Psychiatric-Demo/faq.html.

55 Centers for Medicaid and Medicaid Services. (2017). Medicaid Emergency Psychiatric Demonstration. CMS.gov. https://innovation.cms.gov/initiatives/Medicaid-Emergency-Psychiatric-Demo
57 Mahan, D. (2017). 1115 Waiver Transparency Requirements and Developing a Waiver Advocacy Strategy. Families USA. http://familiesusa.org/product/1115-waiver-transparency-requirements-and-developing-waiver-advocacy-strategy

58 Neal B. (2017, Sept. 22) 11-W-00297/3: Virginia Governor's Access Plan (GAP) and Addiction and Recovery Treatment Services (ARTS) Delivery System Transformation Demonstration. CMS. https://www. medicaid.gov/medicaid-chip-program-information/by-topics/ waivers/1115/downloads/va/va-gov-access-plan-gap-ca.pdf

59 Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine. (2017). Treatment for Addiction Disorders Increases During First Three Months of New Medicaid Program. Virginia Commonwealth University School of Medicine. http://www.dmas.virginia.gov/Content\_atchs/bh/HBP\_ARTS%20Issue%2001\_092017.pdf
60 Health Homes. Medicaid.gov. https://www.medicaid.gov/med-

icaid/ltss/health-homes/index.html 61 Moses, K. & Klebonis, J. (2015). Designing Medicaid Health

Homes for Individuals with Opioid Dependency: Considerations for States. CMS. https://www.chcs.org/media/HH-

IRC-Health-Homes-for-Opioid-Dependency.pdf 62 Moses, K. & Klebonis, J. (2015). Designing Medicaid Health Homes for Individuals with Opioid Dependency: Considerations for States. CMS. https://www.chcs.org/media/HH-IRC-Health-Homes-for-Opioid-Dependency.pdf

63 Rizzi, N. (2017, Oct. 9). City Signs Exclusive Deal with Pharmaceutical Firm for Anti-Overdose Drug. DNA Info. https://www. dnainfo.com/new-york/20171009/new-dorp/narcan-distribution-deal-department-of-health

**64** Rizzi, N. (2017, Oct. 9). City Signs Exclusive Deal with Pharmaceutical Firm for Anti-Overdose Drug. DNA Info. https://www. dnainfo.com/new-york/20171009/new-dorp/narcan-distribution-deal-department-of-health

**65** Andersen, T. (2016, Mar. 9) Middlesex officials to help children of overdose victims. Middlesex District Attorney website. http://middlesexda.com/news/news/142

66 Ockerbloom, M. (2016, Mar. 8). Middlesex DA working to help children of opioid crisis in Lowell. Fox 25 Boston News. https://www.fox25boston.com/news/middlesex-da-working-to-help-children-of-opioid-crisis-in-lowell/151837770

67 National League of Cities and National Association of Counties. (2016). A Prescription for Action. http://opioidaction.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/NACo-NLC\_JointOpioidReport\_FINAL.pdf
68 Clifasefi, S. L., Lonczak, H. S., & Collins, S. E. (2017). Seattle's Law Enforcement Assisted Diversion (LEAD) Program: With-in-Subjects Changes on Housing, Employment, and Income/ Benefits Outcomes and Associations With Recidivism. Crime & Delinquency, 63(4), 429-445.

69 Whitehouse, S., Office of the Press Secretary (2018, Feb. 2). Whitehouse, Portman Introduce Bipartisan CARA 2.0 Act to Bolster Fight Against Opioid Epidemic. [Press Release]. https://www.whitehouse.senate.gov/news/release/whitehouse -portman-introduce-bipartisan-cara-20-act-to-bolster-fight -against-opioid-epidemic **70** Ko, J. Y. (2016). Incidence of neonatal abstinence syndrome—28 states, 1999–2013. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 65.

**71** Ko, J. Y. (2016). Incidence of neonatal abstinence syndrome— 28 states, 1999–2013. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 65.

**72** Patrick, S. W., Davis, M. M., Lehmann, C. U., & Cooper, W. O. (2015). Increasing incidence and geographic distribution of neonatal abstinence syndrome: United States 2009 to 2012. Journal of Perinatology, 35(8), 650.

**73** Committee on Obstetric Practice, American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2017). ACOG Committee Opinion. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. https://www.acog. org/Clinical-Guidance-and-Publications/Committee-Opinions/ Committee-on-Obstetric-Practice/Opioid-Use-and-Opioid-Use-Disorder-in-Pregnancy

74 McQueen, K., & Murphy-Oikonen, J. (2016). Neonatal abstinence syndrome. New England Journal of Medicine, 375(25), 2468-2479. Committee on Obstetric Practice, American Society of Addiction Medicine. (2017). ACOG Committee Opinion. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. https://www.acog. org/Clinical-Guidance-and-Publications/Committee-Opinions/ Committee-on-Obstetric-Practice/Opioid-Use-and-Opioid-Use-Disorder-in-Pregnancy

75 Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2017). The AFCARS Report. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/cb/afcarsreport24.pdf McQueen, K., & Murphy-Oikonen, J. (2016). Neonatal abstinence syndrome. New England Journal of Medicine, 375(25), 2468-2479.
76 American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists Committee on Health Care for Underserved Women. (2011, reaffirmed 2014) Substance abuse reporting and pregnancy: the role of the obstetrician-gynecologist. http://www.acog.org/Resources-And-Publications/Committee-Opinions/Committee-on-Health-Care-for-Underserved-Women/Substance-Abuse-Reporting-and-Pregnancy-The-Role-of-the-Obstetrician-Gynecologist 77 Committee on Substance Abuse. (1990). Drug-exposed infants. Pediatrics, 86(4), 639-642.

78 Segal, L.M., De Biasi, A., Mueller, J.L., May, K., & Warren, M. (2017). Pain in the Nation: The Drug, Alcohol and Suicide Crises and the Need for a National Resilience Strategy. Trust for America's Health. http://healthyamericans.org/assets/files/ TFAH-2017-PainNationRpt-FINAL.pdf

**79** Crary D. (2016, Oct. 27). Number of US foster kids rises; parents' drug abuse a factor. US News & World Report. https://www. usnews.com/news/us/articles/2017-11-30/more-us-kids-in-fostercare-parental-drug-abuse-a-factor

**80** Editorial Board. (2017, Jan. 16). Young Victims of the Opioid Epidemic. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2017/01/16/ opinion/young-victims-of-the-opioid-epidemic.html

**81** Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2017). The AFCARS Report. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/cb/afcarsreport24.pdf.

82 Lachman, S. (2017, Dec. 28). The Opioid Plague's Youngest Victims: Children in Foster Care. The New York Times. https://www. nytimes.com/2017/12/28/opinion/opioid-crisis-children -foster-care.html

**83** National Center for Health Statistics. (2017, Aug). Drug Overdose Deaths Among Adolescents Aged 15-19 in the United States: 1999-2015. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db282.htm 84 Fortuna, R. J., Robbins, B. W., Caiola, E., Joynt, M., & Halterman, J. S. (2010). Prescribing of controlled medications to adolescents and young adults in the United States. Pediatrics, peds-2010.
85 National Center for Health Statistics. (2017, Aug). Drug Overdose Deaths Among Adolescents Aged 15-19 in the United States: 1999–2015. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db282.htm

**86** National Center for Health Statistics. (2017, Aug). Drug Overdose Deaths Among Adolescents Aged 15-19 in the United States: 1999-2015. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https:// www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/databriefs/db282.htm

**87** Johnston, L.D., O'Malley, P.M., Miech, R.A., Bachman, J.G., & Schulenberg, J.E. (2015). Monitoring the Future: National Survey Results on Drug Use 1975-2015. The National Institute on Drug Abuse. http://www.monitoringthefuture.org/pubs/monographs/ mtf-overview2015.pdf

**88** Main, D. (2017, Aug. 16). Teenagers Are Using Less Drugs, But Overdosing More on Heroin and Fentanyl. Newsweek. http://www. newsweek.com/heroin-and-fentanyl-are-killing-more-teenagerseven-drug-use-declines-651618

**89** Han, B., Compton, W. M., Blanco, C., Crane, E., Lee, J., & Jones, C. M. (2017). Prescription opioid use, misuse, and use disorders in US adults: 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Annals of internal medicine, 167(5), 293-301.

**90** Han, B., Compton, W. M., Blanco, C., Crane, E., Lee, J., & Jones, C. M. (2017). Prescription opioid use, misuse, and use disorders in US adults: 2015 National Survey on Drug Use and Health. Annals of internal medicine, 167(5), 293-301.

**91** Jones, C. M., Logan, J., Gladden, R. M., & Bohm, M. K. (2015). Vital signs: demographic and substance use trends among heroin users-United States, 2002-2013. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 64(26), 719-725.

**92** Jones, C. M., Logan, J., Gladden, R. M., & Bohm, M. K. (2015). Vital signs: demographic and substance use trends among heroin users-United States, 2002-2013. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report, 64(26), 719-725.

**93** Popovich, N. (2015, Jul. 8). Rapid rise of heroin use in US tied to prescription opioid abuse, CDC suggests. The Guardian. https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2015/jul/08/heroin-use-over-dose-deaths-us-prescription-opioids

94 http://www.nber.org/papers/w23192.pdf

**95** SAMHSA. (2017). Opioid Misuse Increases Among Older Adults. The CBHSQ Report. https://www.samhsa.gov/data/sites/ default/files/report\_3186/Spotlight-3186.html

**96** Chen, L. H., Hedegaard, H., & Warner, M. (2014). Drug-poisoning deaths involving opioid analgesics: United States, 1999-2011. NCHS data brief, (166), 1-8.

